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Consolidated Management Report for the Company and the Group

The Group management report was summarised in the PATRIZIA Immobilien AG management report in accor-
dance with Article 315 (3) of the German Commercial Code (HGB) in conjunction with Article 298 (3) of the HGB 
because the position of PATRIZIA Immobilien AG as a management and financial holding company is mainly 
shaped by the position of the Group. The summarised management report contains all presentations of the net 
assets, financial and earnings situation of the Company and the Group as well as other details required according 
to German commercial law and the supplementary provisions of DRS 20. All monetary amounts are stated in 
euros.

1 FUNDAMENTAL PRINCIPLES RELATING TO THE GROUP

1.1 Business model

PATRIZIA Immobilien AG is one of Europe’s leading real estate investment companies. Across Europe, around 
800 employees serve our clients on 15 European markets. PATRIZIA offers the complete value chain from asset 
to portfolio management, including the processing of acquisitions and sales transactions for virtually all classes 
of property as well as alternative investments and project development. This enables PATRIZIA to fully meet 
the clients’ desires and requirements. These clients include long-term focused private and institutional investors 
such as insurance companies, pension funds, sovereign wealth funds and savings banks from all over Europe and 
Asia. PATRIZIA offers its clients products tailored to meet individual return, diversification aspirations and risk 
appetite. 

PATRIZIA’s business model focuses on making investments across Europe for institutional and private investors 
and on using its own equity to invest in attractive real estate and real estate portfolios. In doing so, PATRIZIA 
generates fees and investment income which can be classified in three categories:

Third-party business
Third-party business involves the placement and management of special funds by the Group’s own investment 
management companies (KVGs) on behalf of private and institutional investors. The funds are structured without 
any equity contribution from PATRIZIA. PATRIZIA generates stable, recurring income from the management  
of the assets. Furthermore, this category includes additional mandates where PATRIZIA offers single individual 
services from its own comprehensive service portfolio.

Co-investment
Through co-investments, PATRIZIA also uses its own equity to participate in transactions together with its clients. 
In addition to the commitment to the client and to the transaction, these investments also generate management 
fees and income for PATRIZIA from participations. PATRIZIA also provides its shareholders the option to partici-
pate in the growth enhancement of an attractive and diversified Pan-European real estate portfolio. 

Management Report
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Principal investment
PATRIZIA acquires portfolios or properties entirely on its own account as “principal investments” and convinces 
with its ability to close even complex transactions swiftly. An opportunity is acquired if it involves an attractive 
asset which is not marketable to funds due to time or complexity factors. However, the clear aim is to structure 
an attractive product for investors or to resell the portfolio or property at a profit.

As per 31 December 2015, PATRIZIA’s assets under management increased to EUR 16.6 billion (31 December 
2014: EUR 14.6 billion). The volume of assets managed on behalf of third parties totalled EUR 8.8 billion (31 De-
cember 2014: EUR 7.3 billion); the portfolio of co-investments in which PATRIZIA participates with up to 10% of 
its own equity fell to EUR 6.7 billion (31 December 2014: EUR 7.0 billion). In the past year, principal investments 
acquired worth around EUR 1.1 billion (31 December 2014: EUR 0.3 billion) were reported in the accounts.

In accordance with its business model, PATRIZIA Immobilien AG generates two primary income streams which 
form the basis of its operating income: 

Revenues from  
management services

Commissions on 
purchases and sales

Earnings on
capital employed

Performance- 
dependent fees

Fees from  
third parties

3 3
3 

As part of  
co-investments

3

Revenues from 
own investments

3 3 3 ✗

1.2 GROup strategy

PATRIZIA’s strategy revolves around increasing assets under management by around EUR 2.0 billion each year 
and thereby achieving a sustainable growth in operating income.

Expansion of the European platform
A key element of PATRIZIA’s strategy involves further expansion in Europe. As a general principle, PATRIZIA 
only expands into new markets or market segments where established companies can be integrated into the 
 PATRIZIA Group and/or where it is possible to recruit highly qualified experts with an appropriate track record. 
Following France, the United Kingdom, the Netherlands and Scandinavia, last year PATRIZIA expanded into the 
real estate market of the Iberian Peninsula through a dedicated team, with the result that PATRIZIA now has a 
local team in 15 European markets.

Extension of the product portfolio
The product portfolio is being systematically expanded and now incorporates almost all asset classes – from  
residential, office and retail through to hotels and nursing care properties. In 2015 PATRIZIA established a 
Pan-European logistics platform to cover the field of logistics real estate across Europe for its clients. In addition, 
national requirements for structuring products and supervisory requirements vary. PATRIZIA’s European-wide 
platform provides optimal conditions for offering investments which match the legal and supervisory require-
ments demanded by individual investors based on national regulations. PATRIZIA’s track record and presence  
in Europe have enabled it to establish itself as a successful international brand among investors.

EUR billion  
annual growth of assets 
under management

2.0
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Broadening of the international investor base
The international investor base is undergoing further expansion. Investors are being targeted globally with a focus 
on Europe, Asia, Australia and North and South America with a view to securing them as long-term clients for 
PATRIZIA. Collaboration with existing clients is also constantly intensified. As well as offering new products, tar-
geted consultancy services on reinvesting sales proceeds from existing investments are also offered.

1.3 Competitive strengths

Direct access to a broad base of investors
Direct access to a broad base of investors is one of PATRIZIA’s strengths. It is based on the trust of its clients 
who wish to consolidate and expand the business relationship that has developed over 30 years. PATRIZIA’s  
clients include around 200 institutional investors in Germany and abroad who regularly and repeatedly invest  
with PATRIZIA. In 2015 alone, investors entrusted PATRIZIA with EUR 1.5 billion of new equity.

Established Pan-European network
Based on the deep trust and a professional, easily scalable platform, PATRIZIA’s scope of activities and thus its 
network now encompasses 15 European markets. PATRIZIA is represented in these markets with long-standing, 
local expertise and through its established regional and national network is able to identify and implement attrac-
tive investment opportunities in virtually all asset classes and risk profiles. This network also provides PATRIZIA 
direct access to the latest market developments and the opportunity to perceive almost every appreciable trans-
action. The Harald acquisition – a portfolio primarily consisting of German apartments which PATRIZIA acquired 
through the privatisation of the listed fund structure based in Scandinavia – is a good example of this.

Offering the entire value chain for the property
Not just foreign investors are impressed by PATRIZIA’s wide range of products and services, but German inves-
tors as well. Investors are offered a “comprehensive, care-free package” containing all services and the entire 
value chain of their investment. It goes without saying that individual components can also be selected from this 
repertoire.

Successful “track record” attracts further transactions 
Successful transactions speak for PATRIZIA. Last year alone acquisitions and sales totalling EUR 7.2 billion were 
processed, EUR 2.6 billion of which was outside Germany. Successful value creation within a portfolio is one of 
PATRIZIA’s core competences which is reflected in the returns achieved for our clients. However, the prudent 
recognition of opportunities in all asset classes throughout Europe and the prompt and discreet execution of 
deals are also what clients and business partners value about PATRIZIA.

PATRIZIA has the DNA of an investor
As well as investing for third parties, PATRIZIA has made investing own equity a key element of its business  
model from the outset. PATRIZIA has the DNA of an investor. Its long-standing experience and extensive exper-
tise as an investor are demanded and appreciated by its clients. PATRIZIA also invests its equity on a collabora-
tive basis with clients in co-investments, thus creating trust.
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Reputation creates trust
Among investors and business partners in Europe, the name PATRIZIA stands for a trusting and reliable partner-
ship and successful business. This reputation has developed from sustainable and prudent business acumen. The 
brand and the trust associated with it are indispensable for securing new clients and developing existing business 
relationships. This is why such great importance is attached to taking care of the PATRIZIA brand and repeatedly 
earning our investors’ trust with each new transaction.

1.4 Group control and performance indicators

1.4.1 CORPORATE MANAGEMENT BY SEGMENT

Corporate management is performed at PATRIZIA in the segments Management Services and Investments. The 
Management Services segment includes service commission income from third parties and co-investments.  
The Investments segment includes the income earned on the capital funds employed for co-investments and 
principal investments. Further details on segment reporting are available under  item 7.

1.4.2 CORPORATE MANAGEMENT BASED ON FINANCIAL PERFORMANCE INDICATORS

The following financial performance indicators are used for corporate management at PATRIZIA:

Financial performance indicators Description

Assets under management
(real estate assets)

The growth of the Group is measured by the assets under management and the  
increase in the income generated from these assets. 

Operating income 

The operating income before tax is the Group’s most important key performance 
indicator. It is calculated from EBT adjusted for profit/loss arising from the non-cash 
market valuation of investment properties, interest rate hedges and amortisation of 
management contracts. Realised changes in value from the sale of investment prop-
erty are added to this. In addition to other individually agreed targets, the operating 
income is also the measure used for performance-based compensation of the Man-
aging Board members and first-tier managers.

The following framework parameters are also used for corporate Group management:

Financial performance indicators Description

Management fees PATRIZIA receives recurring service fees for managing real estate assets.

Performance-based income
The Group receives performance-based payments when defined target returns for 
individual investments are exceeded.

Transaction volume
The transaction volume is the total of all purchases and sales for which PATRIZIA 
receives a fee which is in line with the market. 

Raised equity The equity for various investments is raised from investors.

   The development of the above indicators is outlined under item 2.2.

1.4.3 CORPORATE MANAGEMENT BASED ON NON-FINANCIAL PERFORMANCE INDICATORS 

PATRIZIA does not directly apply any non-financial performance indicators. 

Management Report
Fundamental Principles  
relating to the Group
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1.5 Employees

Employee structure 
As per 31 December 2015, the European real estate investment company employed a total of 823 full-time em-
ployees (2014: 792 employees, +3.9%), including 47 trainees and students of the Cooperative State University 
Stuttgart (Duale Hochschule) studying real estate economics, plus 76 part-time employees. A total of 99 em-
ployees worked in the international subsidiaries across Europe (2014: 72 employees) in Denmark, Finland, France, 
the United Kingdom, Ireland, Luxembourg, the Netherlands and Spain. The increase in the number of employees 
is mainly a result of the expansion of our presence across Europe. In terms of full-time equivalents, the European 
headcount at the end of the year was 800 employees (2014: 770 employees, +3.9%). 

3
Finland

23
Denmark

724
Germany

17
Luxembourg

28
Great Britain 
and Ireland

15
Netherlands

10
France

3
Spain

Corporate culture
PATRIZIA’S corporate culture is based on our management principles and rules for collaboration, which are 
closely interconnected. They are divided into the five dimensions of performance, trust, respect, responsibility 
and support. All dimensions can be seen as of equal value and every employee is encouraged to share them  
and set an example of them in their own conduct. The essential nature of PATRIZIA’s corporate culture makes  
it possible to achieve these goals better. 

Diversity in the company 
As a company with business activities throughout Europe, there is a constantly increasing level of cultural diversity 
in the Group. PATRIZIA now has local management teams in nine countries and is active as an investor and ser-
vice provider in fifteen countries. At the end of the year, people of 26 nationalities were employed by PATRIZIA. 
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The proportion of male to female full-time employees is 53% to 47%, while the proportion of male to female part-
time employees is 8% to 92%. With an overall proportion of 52%, the majority of employees (excluding trainees)  
of the PATRIZIA Group are female. In the year under review, female employees made up 5% of the senior man-
agement team (Managing Board and first-tier managers) across Europe (2014: 6%), while 23% of all managers in 
the Group were female (2014: 22%). 

Further training possibilities
Further training for PATRIZIA employees is and remains a central objective. The PATRIZIA Academy offered 
21 seminars from real estate skills, leadership skills, personal and social skills to international skills. Of a total 
of 20 instructors, 11 course leaders are drawn from within the company. Over the course of 2015, PATRIZIA 
invested around TEUR 412 in advanced and further training for its employees. This equates to EUR 540 per  
employee, based on the average number of people employed during the year. Each month, a onehour session on 
a selected topic is held under the slogan of “PATRIZIA Knowledge”. These sessions focus on a dialogue between 
colleagues and aim to promote understanding among each other and across departments. 

Employer attractiveness
In order to ensure that we can enjoy long-term success across Europe as a real estate investment company, we 
need to ensure remaining an attractive, exemplary employer when competing in order to recruit the best talents. 
 PATRIZIA focuses on a mix of competitive remuneration, voluntary company social benefits, a friendly and  
constructive corporate culture and individually tailored development opportunities.

1.6 Sustainability

PATRIZIA Immobilien AG supports various organisations in the real estate industry which are committed to pro-
moting sustainability and environmentally conscious conduct. Through our membership in international property 
enterprises’ associations, we contribute to the topics of sustainability in the real estate sector such as the defini-
tion of reporting standards for residential property.

Sustainability strategy
PATRIZIA’s sustainability strategy comprises five strategic fields of action. These are employee development, 
social commitment, products, increasing the value of the company and raising transparency. The sustainability 
strategy aims to integrate social and environmental issues along the real estate value chain and in the stake-
holder dialogue in order to be prepared for future challenges. 

PATRIZIA KinderHaus Foundation 
PATRIZIA also exercises sustainability through the support to the PATRIZIA KinderHaus Foundation, which was 
established by CEO Wolfgang Egger in 1999 and whose aim is to create living spaces for children and young 
 people in need throughout the world by constructing PATRIZIA children’s homes (‘KinderHaus’). The main focus 
is always on constructing new buildings, extending buildings or converting buildings which are precisely tailored 
to the respective requirements. Eleven children’s homes have been set up in Europe, Africa, Asia and South 
America in the more than 15 years of the foundation’s existence. The underlying principle is to provide help to 
people to help themselves. All costs incurred are covered by PATRIZIA and further sponsors, meaning that 100% 
of every euro donated is spent directly on projects. 

 kinderhausstiftung.de
 facebook.com/patriziakinderhausstiftung

Management Report
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percent  
of the donations are 
passed on to the aid 
projects

 100

www.kinderhausstiftung.de
www.facebook.com/patriziakinderhausstiftung
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2 ECONOMIC REPORT

2.1 Economic environment

Markets in general: In Europe, the economic recovery turns into its third consecutive year, with the forecasts 
predicting further growth. It should however be noted that the current upturn is only proceeding very slowly, with 
real growth rates of between one and two per cent in almost all European countries. In 2015, the level of growth 
could largely be accounted for by decreasing oil prices, a relatively weak euro and the ECB’s unconventional 
monetary policy. These favourable economic factors, in combination with a broadly neutral fiscal environment, 
have resulted in stimulation of private consumer spending and exports.  Sources: eurostat, EU Commission, 
Reuters

Real estate markets: Real estate continues creating a great demand from both institutional and private invest-
ors. The volume of transactions on the European real estate markets reached a record high in 2015 again. 
Investment activities were driven by low returns on alternative investments and the availability of low costs of 
funding. Due to the robust economic development in Europe, there positive momentum continues for office 
buildings. European retail markets were also able to remain their strong development of the previous years. 
The interest for space in top locations and in locations bordering class A locations but also as class B and even 
class C locations remains high. European residential real estate markets continue to flourish in line with general 
economic trends. There are signs that the recovery is now spreading from country to country. Prices in cities are 
rising faster than the national averages in almost all European countries. This development is having an increas-
ing effect on prices in commuter areas. Nevertheless, the risks associated with this appear currently limited  
since the recovery of the real estate market and the upturn in regional residential property markets have not yet 
resulted in a rapid expansion of lending.  Sources: PMA, ECB, Reuters, eurostat

2.2 Operational performance

Key performance indicators 

ASSETS UNDER MANAGEMENT (IN EUR BILLION)

As per 31 December 2015, PATRIZIA was managing 
real estate assets worth EUR 16.6 billion compared with 
EUR 14.6 billion on the previous year’s balance-sheet 
date. Of this, EUR 11.1 billion was accounted for 
by Germany and EUR 5.5 billion by other European 
countries. Overall, assets under management grew by 
EUR 2.0 billion, or 13.7% during the reporting period. 
The target growth of around EUR 2.0 billion per year 
was thus achieved. The company also expects net  
annual growth of around EUR 2.0 billion in assets un-
der management in the future.2014 2015

  Principal Investments      Co-Investments      Third parties

0.3

7.0

7.3

14.6

1.1

6.7

8.8

16.6+13.7%
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ASSETS UNDER MANAGEMENT

Breakdown by asset class Geographical distribution

OPERATING INCOME (IN EUR MILLION)

The operating income is calculated from EBT accord-
ing to IFRS adjusted for non-cash effects from the val-
uation of investment properties, interest rate hedges 
and amortisation of management contracts. Realised 
changes in value from the sale of investment property 
are added. For the 2015 fiscal year, the operating 
income more than tripled to EUR 155.3 million (2014: 
EUR 50.2 million). This achieved the upper half of the 
forecast of EUR 145–160 million, which had been re-
vised upwards several times.

2014 2015

Development of the framework parameters which support corporate management:

INCOME FROM MANAGEMENT SERVICES (IN EUR MILLION)

All services provided by PATRIZIA are compensated 
through management income. Management income 
includes the compensation for real-estate services 
such as asset and portfolio management, purchase 
and sale as well as performance fees. In 2015, man-
agement income of EUR 268.7 million was generated, 
representing an increase of 91.9% over the previous 
year (2014: EUR 140.0 million). 

2014 2015

Management Report
Economic Report

 Residential 42%
 Office 32%
 Retail 14%
 Light Industrial 4%
 Hotel 2%
 Health 2%
 Logistics 1%
 Others 3%

 Germany 67%
 UK & Ireland 12%
 Netherlands 7%
 Nordics 5%
 France 3%
 Others 6%

155.3

50.2

+209.2%

268.7

140.0

+91.9%
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peRFoRManCe Fee (in euR Million)

If defined target returns for investments are achieved 
or exceeded, PATRIZIA receives corresponding per
formance fees. This is part of the management income 
shown above. During the reporting year, this amounted 
to EUR 128.5 million (2014: EUR 19.7 million). The 
significant rise compared to the previous year was 
attributable to the sale of SÜDEWO, for which perform
ancebased remuneration of EUR 103.5 million was 
received.

2014 2015

tRansaCtion voluMe (in euR Billion)

The transaction volume comprises closed real estate 
acquisitions and sales. In 2015, acquisitions totalled 
EUR 4.2 billion and sales EUR 3.0 billion. In the 2015 
fiscal year, the transaction volume grew 75.6% to EUR 
7.2 billion (2014: EUR 4.1 billion).

2014 2015

  Acquisitions           Sales

Raised equity (in euR Billion)

In 2015, equity of EUR 1.5 billion was raised for the 
numerous international investments. This represents  
a 25.0% increase over the previous year’s figure  
(2014: EUR 1.2 billion).

2014 2015

128.5 

19.7

+552.3%

3.4

0.7

4.1

4.2

3.0

7.2+75.6%

1.5

1.2

+25.0%
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2.2.1 THIRD PARTIES 

Business for third parties involves the placement and management of special funds by the Group’s own invest-
ment management companies on behalf of private and institutional investors. PATRIZIA generates stable, recur-
ring income from the management of the assets. Furthermore, this section includes additional mandates where 
PATRIZIA offers single individual services from its service portfolio. Third-party business does not involve any 
equity investment by PATRIZIA.

PATRIZIA investment management companies
The funds fulfil the role of asset holders, and the initial holding period planned for these assets is between seven 
and ten years. Various PATRIZIA business units act as service providers for the funds of the three investment 
management companies, thereby generating fee revenues. 

PATRIZIA WohnInvest KVG mbH invests in residential properties and PATRIZIA GewerbeInvest KVG mbH 
in commercial real estate. Both companies operate with a focus on Europe and establish specialised real estate 
funds for institutional investors. 

In contrast, PATRIZIA GrundInvest KVG mbH, which was licensed by the Federal Financial Supervisory Authority 
(BaFin) in 2015, focusses on establishing and managing closed-end real estate funds for retail investors. At the 
start of 2016, the company established its first fund and commenced its sales. The fund comprises two modern 
commercial properties located on the campus of RWTH Aachen University which are valued at EUR 40 million. 
The Südtor quarter in Stuttgart and a residential development in Copenhagen have already been acquired to es-
tablish further funds, with additional purchases planned during the year. In principle, PATRIZIA GrundInvest can 
invest in all markets and all types of real estate.

PATRIZIA Real Estate Investment Management S.à r.l. (REIM) manages the PATRIZIA Nordic Cities fund, 
which was established for two investors from Germany. Ten office and commercial properties in Denmark were 
acquired in December 2014 as an initial investment.

Management of investments for third parties
In addition, PATRIZIA Immobilien AG manages third-party mandates with real estate assets totalling EUR 749 
million. This includes, for example, the mandate to manage London’s Madam Tussaud’s wax museum. PATRIZIA 
acquired this property as investment manager for the Taiwanese insurance group Fubon Life and took over its  
asset and property management in August 2015. 
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PATRIZIA VEHICLES AS OF 31 DECEMBER, 2015

in EUR million 
 

Assets under 
management

Equity  
commitments 

of which  
already inves-

ted equity

of which  
outstanding 

Number of 
established 

vehicles

PATRIZIA WohnInvest KVG mbH 1,414 1,572 965 6061 9 

Pool funds 935 1,003 621 3811 5 

Individual funds 479 569 344 2251 4 

PATRIZIA GewerbeInvest KVG mbH 6,449 4,995 3,987 1,007 20 

Pool funds 3,578 2,505 2,025 480 9 

Individual funds 1,011 1,221 817 404 9 

Label funds 1,859 1,268 1,145 123 2 

PATRIZIA Real Estate Investment 
Management S.à r.l. (REIM)2 171 85 85 0 1 

Other mandates 749 450 450 0 7 

PATRIZIA GrundInvest KVG mbH 0 0 0 0 1

THIRD PARTIES 8,782 7,101 5,487 1,613 38

1 Excludes real estate developments secured under purchase contracts
2 PATRIZIA Nordic Cities SCS SICAV-FIS

2.2.2 CO-INVESTMENTS 

In the co-investments area, PATRIZIA invests in real estate in collaboration with its clients. Besides the com-
mitment to the client and to the transaction, this also generates management fees and investment income for 
PATRIZIA in the same way as for third-party business. And our shareholders participate in the growth enhance-
ment of an attractive and diversified Pan-European real estate portfolio. Co-investments account for EUR 6.7 bil-
lion of assets under management. Clients have invested EUR 2.7 billion and PATRIZIA EUR 0.2 billion.

PATRIZIA’s co-investments are described below.

RESIDENTIAL

SÜDEWO
In fiscal year 2015, PATRIZIA Immobilien AG sold the Süddeutsche Wohnen Group (SÜDEWO) and its 19,800 
apartments to Vonovia SE for EUR 1.9 billion. The group was purchased in 2012 for EUR 1.4 billion, with 
 PATRIZIA holding a 2.5% stake. 

GBW
GBW – a former BayernLB housing company – was acquired in 2013 for a consortium of German long-term invest-
ors. PATRIZIA has a 5.1% stake in the co-investment. Its aim is long-term, value-enhancing management of the 
portfolio, which extends throughout Bavaria. There were no material changes to this co-investment in the report-
ing period. Since acquisition, the value of the investment has increased from EUR 2.4 billion to EUR 3.3 billion. 

WohnModul I SICAV-FIS
This co-investment’s assets include European residential and commercial properties in Germany, Denmark,  
Ireland, France and the Netherlands. WohnModul’s partner has committed total capital of EUR 820 million, of 
which an amount of EUR 776 million had been drawn at the reporting date. PATRIZIA holds a 10.1% stake.  
During the 2015 fiscal year, the co-investment made the following acquisitions:
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 l Basket: Purchase of a portfolio with 107 retail properties for EUR 286 million. The portfolio has a total  
rental space of 229,000 sqm and mainly comprises supermarkets, discount stores and specialist shopping 
centres in strong economic regions throughout Germany. 

 l Wilhemina: Economic takeover of the second tranche of the Dutch residential portfolio comprising 976 
units. The first tranche with 4,157 apartments was already transferred in 2014. Overall, the portfolio com-
prises around 5,100 units and was purchased for EUR 564 million.

 l Dublin: An inner-city residential building in Dublin with 62 high-quality apartments and gross floor space 
of around 4,700 sqm was acquired for around EUR 15 million. 

 l Galleri K: The “Galleri K” business quarter in the centre of Copenhagen was acquired for the equivalent of 
EUR 200 million. In addition to 20 high-quality businesses, the area also includes offices and apartments.

 l Bastide: Acquisition of a portfolio in France with 23 residential buildings and a student residence compris-
ing 978 residential and 6 commercial units. The purchase price was EUR 179 million.

 l Real estate developments in Germany: Seven projects are currently at different stages of development 
in five German cities. The planned sales volume is around EUR 1.2 billion.

   Please refer to 2.3.2. “Earnings Situation” for information on this co-investment’s impact on results.

COMMERCIAL

PATRoffice Real Estate GmbH & Co. KG
This is an actively managed co-investment with two pension funds, namely APG from the Netherlands and ATP 
Real Estate from Denmark. PATRIZIA Immobilien AG holds a 6.25% stake in the company. The exit phase and  
the sale of the properties were commenced in 2013. Assets with a value of EUR 92 million were sold in 2015.  
The remaining properties belonging to the company have a value of EUR 220.1 million and are to be sold in 2016 
and the equity repaid.

Co-investments in the United Kingdom
PATRIZIA has four different co-investments with Oaktree Capital Management. PATRIZIA’s stake varies between 
5 and 10%.

Aviemore Topco
Three managed business parks: Hillington Park in Glasgow, Chineham 
Park in Basingstoke and Birchwood Park in Warrington.

Citruz Holdings LP
A commercial portfolio with 20 office, industry and leisure buildings. 
Four buildings were sold in 2015.

Plymouth Sound Holdings LP
A co-investment with three office buildings in Birmingham, Camberley 
and Watchmoor Park. The Arena 3 building in Bracknell was sold in 
2015.

Winnersh Holdings LP
A business park near London, which is being developed by refur-
bishing existing buildings and through recompaction. 

EUR billion  
Development pipeline 

 1.2
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PATRIZIA believes that regional markets in the United Kingdom still offer good opportunities to acquire attrac
tive commercial real estate near the low turning point of the market cycle and increase its value through active 
asset management.

In 2015 there were no major changes to the coinvestments seneca (DEIKON portfolio with 86 specialist stores 
and supermarkets) and sono west (construction of a new, eightstorey office and business building in Frankfurt).

2.2.3 pRinCipal investMents

PATRIZIA acquires portfolios or individual properties on an opportunistic basis as a “principal investment” for its 
own account. An opportunity is only seized if it is considered to be an attractive, longterm investment. The clear 
aim is, however, to structure an attractive product for investors and to resell the portfolio or property at a profit.

Manchester First street
During the period under review, PATRIZIA acquired the “First Street” site in Manchester, comprising 80,000 sqm, 
for around EUR 140 million. Some of the land has already been developed and built on, enabling PATRIZIA to 
add value through active management. While the onsite hotel has already been resold with a profit, a joint ven
ture partner has now been secured for the undeveloped area and specific development plans have been drawn 
up. Plans for 2016 include selling the food and restaurant businesses, and also the office building known as 
“First Street No. 1”, with a total area of 17,000 sqm.

Harald
As part of a voluntary public offer, PATRIZIA has acquired more than 14,000 apartments in Germany and  Sweden 
during the 2015 fiscal year for some EUR 900 million. PATRIZIA has since successfully sold all the units. The 
units in Sweden were sold at a profit of around EUR 5.3 million in 2015, while the sale of the apartments in 
 Germany for around EUR 1.1 billion has been notarised and will be completed in the first half of 2016. 

other principal investments
During the period under review, the principal investment Dover Street was also acquired, with the valueadd 
building “Linley House” in Manchester and the Sudermannzentrum in Munich. 628 units were sold during the 
year under review (31 December, 2014: 2,985 units). As of yearend, PATRIZIA’s portfolio still comprised 
471 units (31 December, 2014: 1,081 units).

own project developments 
PATRIZIA’s last real estate development for its own account was completed in 2015. No further projects are 
currently planned. 

   Please refer to 2.3.2 “Earnings Situation” for information on these principal investments’ impact on results. 
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2.3 Economic Position 

2.3.1 geneRal stateMent By tHe Managing BoaRd

2015 was an outstanding year for PATRIZIA Immobilien AG – all relevant key performance indicators developed 
favourably and the forecast was met after being raised several times during the year. The outlook for the current 
fiscal year is also very positive and a further increase in the operating income is expected in 2016. 

The income statement shows PATRIZIA’s services booked under various items. The following therefore first 
 outlines the key indicators.

At EUR 155.3 million, the operating income reached a new record high and was more than three times the 
2014 result (EUR 50.2 million, +209.2%). The sharp rise in this indicator was driven by PATRIZIA’s extremely 
positive development distinguished by the performance fee from the sale of SÜDEWO. The operating income 
includes all of PATRIZIA’s operating income flows and thus gives an accurate reflection of actual operating per
formance. The composition and development of the operating income is explained in detail below. 

Acquisitions and sales totalling EUR 7.2 billion were effected, representing a 75.6% yearonyear increase (2014: 
EUR 4.1 billion). As a result, assets under management also rose by EUR 2.0 billion to EUR 16.6 billion. The 
cash and cash equivalents of EUR 179.1 million on the reporting date will allow PATRIZIA to continue to exploit 
further attractive investment opportunities in the future. Overall, the net asset, financial and earnings situation 
developed extremely well and provides a good basis for PATRIZIA to continue implementing its strategic objectives.
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2.3.2 GROUP EARNINGS SITUATION

OPERATING INCOME

The operating income is the Group’s most important key performance indicator as it includes the total of all  
operating items in the income statement, adjusted by the cash and non-cash items listed below. In the 2015  
fiscal year, the operating income more than tripled to EUR 155.3 million (2014: EUR 50.2 million, +209.2%).  
The change in the operating income over the previous year is shown below:

CALCULATION OF OPERATING INCOME

 2015 
EUR ’000 

2014  
EUR ’000 

Change 

EBITDA 175,077 55,886 213.3%

Amortisation of fund management contracts1, 
software and equipment –7,059 –6,940 1.7%

EBIT 168,018 48,946 243.3%

Financial result (net interest income) –16,505 –7,499 120.1%

Gains/losses from currency translation –618 551 –

EBT 150,895 41,998 259.3%

Change in the value of derivatives –2,888 –2,788 3.6%

+ Amortisation of management contracts1 1,968 2,485 –20.8%

Net realised change in the value  
of investment property 5,296 8,515 –37.4%

Operating income 155,271 50,210 209.2%

1 Fund management contracts that were transferred as part of the acquisition of PATRIZIA GewerbeInvest KVG mbH and PATRIZIA UK Ltd.

The increase in the operating income is mainly attributable to the performance-related fee for the sale of 
 SÜDEWO, which is shown under income from participations. This effect is explained in detail in income from 
partici pations. 

The other items in the reconciliation of the operating income are shown below, based on their position in the  
consolidated income statement.
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CONSOLIDATED INCOME STATEMENT

OVERVIEW OF PATRIZIA’S EARNINGS

2015 
EUR ’000

2014
EUR ’000

Change 

Revenues 384,858 291,815 31.9%

Total operating performance 249,419 205,468 21.4%

EBITDA 175,077 55,886 213.3%

EBIT 168,018 48,946 243.3%

EBT 150,895 41,998 259.3%

Operating income1 155,271 50,210 209.2%

Consolidated annual profit 134,462 35,020 284.0%

1 Adjusted for amortisation on fund management contracts, unrealised changes in the value of investment property and non-cash effects from interest and currency 
hedging transactions. Realised changes in the value of investment property have been added. 

REVENUES

In 2015, consolidated revenues rose 31.9%, from EUR 291.8 million to EUR 384.9 million. All items in consoli-
dated revenues contributed to the positive development and are explained below. 

2015 
EUR ’000

2014
EUR ’000

Change 

Sales proceeds from principal investments 188,979 155,189 21.8%

Rental revenues 42,761 21,187 101.8%

Revenues from management services 134,259 106,285 26.3%

Revenues from ancillary costs 14,678 7,728 89.9%

Other 4,181 1,426 193.2%

CONSOLIDATED REVENUES 384,858 291,815 31.9%

Revenues are of limited informative value because items shown beneath the revenue line must also be taken into 
account in order to obtain a complete picture of performance.

Sales proceeds from principal investments include purchase price revenues from PATRIZIA’s own portfolio 
and also purchase price revenues from project developments. Sales of apartments from the company’s own 
portfolio accounted for EUR 89.8 million (2014: EUR 129.5 million, –30.7%). The remaining own real estate 
developments accounted for sales of EUR 99.2 million (2014: EUR 25.7 million, +286.4%). Most real estate de-
velopments have been sold and completion is expected in the first half of 2016. Sales revenues contrasted with 
inventory outflows of EUR –106.8 million (2014: EUR –26.7 million), with the result that in 2015, sales resulted  
in net proceeds of EUR –7.6 million (2014: EUR –1.0 million).

The doubling of rental revenues from EUR 21.2 million in 2014 to EUR 42.8 million in 2015 was largely due  
to the addition of the properties in the Harald portfolio (EUR 34.0 million), which was also able to offset sales- 
related reductions in rents. As the acquisition of the Harald portfolio was completed during the course of the 
year, this amount represents the pro-rata rent received. 
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Service business expanded further in the 2015 fiscal year. Revenues from management services rose 26.3% 
from EUR 106.3 million to EUR 134.3 million. Of this, EUR 68.4 million (2014: EUR 51.3 million, +33.3%) was 
attributable to income from services provided and EUR 65.9 million (2014: EUR 55.0 million; +19.8%) to transac-
tion fees and performance-based fees. This rise was due to the growth in assets under management and to the 
marked increase in transaction volume. 

The item Revenues from ancillary costs contains an amount of EUR 14.7 million (2014: EUR 7.7 million, 
+89.9%) in revenues from the apportionment of ancillary rental costs. The item Other basically contains trans-
action fees which are charged on to the corresponding investment vehicles. As a result of the rise in transaction 
performance, the value increased 193.2% from EUR 1.4 million to EUR 4.2 million in 2015.

TOTAL OPERATING PERFORMANCE

Total operating performance is a better reflection of PATRIZIA’s performance than revenues because it includes 
some items such as the sale of investments held as non-current assets which cannot be shown under revenues. 

As a result of the sharp rise in revenues, total operating performance also grew in 2015, increasing 21.4% from 
EUR 205.5 million to EUR 249.4 million. 

CALCULATION OF TOTAL OPERATING PERFORMANCE

2015 
EUR ’000

2014
EUR ’000

Change 

Revenues 384,858 291,815 31.9%

Income from the sale of investment property 10,075 17,019 –40.8%

Changes in inventories –166,980 –110,509 51.1%

Other operating income 16,189 7,143 126.6%

Income from the deconsolidation of subsidiaries 5,277 0 –

Total operating performance 249,419 205,468 21.4%

The development of revenues in 2015 is described above.

Income from the sale of investment property
Sales proceeds from properties shown under non-current assets are not included in consolidated revenues. Such 
revenues are reported in the income statement under the item “Income from the sale of investment property”. 
After deducting the corresponding carrying values of EUR 59.7 million, the sales proceeds of EUR 69.8 million 
produced net income of EUR 10.1 million in the year under review. The 40.8% decline from the previous year, 
when income of EUR 17.0 million was generated, was due to the lower number of units sold. In the period from 
2007 to 2015, these properties achieved increases with a value of EUR 67.5 million, including EUR 5.3 million 
in the 2015 fiscal year. These changes in value will be realised upon sale and will then be visible in the operating 
income. 
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Changes in inventories
In the year under review, changes in inventories amounted to EUR –167.0 million (2014: EUR –110.5 million,  
+51.1%). Decreases in the carrying value of real estate sold from inventory assets reduced stock by EUR 182.4 
million (2014: EUR –147.3 million, +23.8%). The largest items were disposals from the sale of the VERO/F40 
development and sales of a property in Cologne and a hotel in Manchester. Inventories increased as a result of 
capitalisation totalling EUR 15.4 million (2014: EUR 36.8 million; –58.2%), largely attributable to building progress 
in project developments. 

other operating income
Other operating income increased by 126.6% to EUR 16.2 million (2014: EUR 7.1 million). Of this, an amount 
of EUR 5.2 million mainly results from the release of liabilities and provisions of the Harald portfolio. A further 
EUR 5.2 million (2014: EUR 1.8 million) is attributable to the release of provisions and liabilities for building costs 
and to the acquisition in Manchester. A further EUR 1.7 million (2014: EUR 0.7 million) is attributable to income 
from charging on transaction costs and fees.

income from the deconsolidation of subsidiaries
This item includes the sale of 630 apartments in Umea, Sweden, which were part of the Harald portfolio. This 
transaction was executed as a share deal and is therefore not reported in revenues. After disposal of assets and 
liabilities, the income from the deconsolidation of subsidiaries was EUR 5.3 million (2014: EUR 0 million).

eBitda

CalCulation oF eBitda

2015 
euR ’000

2014
euR ’000

Change 

Total operating performance 249,419 205,468 21.4%

Cost of materials –52,438 –54,455 –3.7%

Cost of purchased services –14,787 –9,990 48.0%

Staff costs –93,519 –77,239 21.1%

Change in the value of investment property 462 51 805.9%

Other operating expenses –69,973 –50,193 39.4%

Income from participations 151,681 39,062 288.3%

Earnings from companies accounted  
for using the equity method 4,232 3,182 33.0%

eBitda 175,077 55,886 213.3%

Income from investments forms part of PATRIZIA’s operating income and will in future be shown above EBITDA 
in the items income from participations and earnings from companies accounted for using the at equity 
 method.
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Cost of materials
The cost of materials primarily includes investment costs for own real estate developments and PATRIZIA’s own 
portfolio, which are generally capitalised. In the past year, it also included the ancillary costs of the Harald port-
folio for the first time. Compared to the previous year, the cost of materials declined 3.7% to EUR 52.4 million 
(2014: EUR 54.5 million) and comprises the following expense items:

 l Real estate developments of EUR 15.7 million (2014: EUR 29.9 million, –47.5%). 
 l Refurbishment and reconstruction activities of EUR 14.2 million (2014: EUR 11.8 million, +20.3%). 
 l Current maintenance of EUR 3.9 million (2014: EUR 2.4 million, +62.5%), plus 
 l allocable rental ancillary costs of EUR 18.7 million, including EUR 13.3 million attributable to the  

“Harald” principal investment (2014: EUR 10.4 million, +79.8%).

Cost of purchased services
The cost of purchased services of EUR 14.8 million (2014: EUR 10.0 million; +48.0%) includes in particular the 
expenses for the label funds of PATRIZIA GewerbeInvest, for which PATRIZIA acts as a service provider. In fiscal 
2015, the rise in the cost of purchased services was mainly attributable to a 39.2% increase in acquisition activi-
ty in the label funds to EUR 13.4 million compared with EUR 9.6 million in the previous year. Revenues from label 
funds amounted to EUR 16.0 million (2014: EUR 11.7 million, +36.4%). 

Staff costs
As a result of the expansion of the company’s presence across Europe, the number of permanent employees 
rose to 823 on the reporting date (2014: 792 employees). Consequently, staff costs developed as follows:

2015 
EUR ’000

2014
EUR ’000

Change 

Fixed salaries 48,413 40,744 18.8%

Variable salaries 20,526 16,577 23.8%

Sales commission 6,989 6,226 12.3%

Social insurance contributions 9,609 8,236 16.7%

Effect of long-term variable compensation1 4,464 2,496 78.8%

Other 3,518 2,960 18.9%

TOTAL 93,519 77,239 21.1%

1 Changes in the value of long-term variable compensation due to changes in the share price.  Further details are provided in the compensation report under 3.2.

The 21.1% rise in staff costs to EUR 93.5 million (2014: EUR 77.2 million) was primarily due to the 18.8% increase 
in fixed salaries from EUR 40.7 million to EUR 48.4 million. The sharp rise in fixed salaries in 2015 reflects the 
whole-year effect of employees taken on at the end of 2014 as part of the acquisition of an asset manager in 
England and also the new appointments in 2015. The 78.8% rise in long-term variable compensation to EUR 4.5 
million (2014: EUR 2.5 million) is due to non-cash related changes in the value of long-term variable compen-
sation due to the change in the share price. Further details on long-term variable compensation can be found in 
the compensation report (  item 3.2). The item Other rose 18.9% on the previous year to EUR 3.5 million. This 
primarily includes benefits in kind of EUR 1.6 million compared with EUR 1.3 million in the previous year and also 
employee profit participation of EUR 0.8 million for the year 2015 (2014: EUR 0.8 million).
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Change in the value of investment property
This item includes the result of the annual valuation of investment property. For the 2015 fiscal year, the change 
in value amounted to EUR 0.5 million compared to EUR 0.1 million in the previous year. 

Other operating expenses
In line with PATRIZIA’s significant increase in performance, other operating expenses rose 39.4% from EUR 50.2 
million to EUR 70.0 million. The detailed composition is shown below:

2015 
EUR ’000

2014
EUR ’000

Change 

Operating expenses 15,959 12,994 22.8%

Administrative expenses 17,957 16,039 12.0%

Selling expenses 12,050 8,982 34.2%

Other expenses 24,007 12,178 97.1%

TOTAL 69,973 50,193 39.4%

Operating expenses rose by 22.8% from EUR 13.0 million to EUR 16.0 million. Key items in operating expenses 
include rent for business premises and corresponding ancillary costs (EUR 7.2 million, up 19.6% compared to 
EUR 6.0 million in the previous year) which, like IT costs and maintenance, (EUR 5.6 million, up 37.3% compared  
to EUR 4.1 million in the previous year) increased due to the expansion in activities.

Administrative expenses rose 12.0% to EUR 18.0 million compared to EUR 16.0 million in 2014. In the fiscal 
year 2015, the largest items were transaction-related costs for due diligence and similar processes (EUR 6.2 mil-
lion), legal and consultancy costs (EUR 5.1 million) and insurance and other contributions (EUR 1.0 million). The 
rise in administrative costs was mainly due to the increased transaction frequency. Transaction-related costs for 
due diligence and also legal and consulting services are charged to the respective investment vehicles and re-
ported as a cost reimbursement under other revenues.

Selling expenses rose 34.2% from EUR 9.0 million to EUR 12.1 million and mainly include the costs associated 
with the sale activities of PATRIZIA. Commission paid directly amounted to EUR 3.7 million, a rise of 84.1% on 
the previous year (EUR 2.0 million). The remaining costs were incurred for various marketing services to support 
sales.

Other expenses almost doubled in the year under review from EUR 12.2 million to EUR 24.0 million. The most 
significant items were consultancy services for transactions (EUR 7.6 million compared to EUR 4.6 million in the 
previous year; +66.8%) and EUR 4.9 million for asset and property management services in the Harald portfolio 
(not applicable in the previous year). 
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Income from participations and earnings from companies accounted for using the equity method
In the reporting period, income from participations climbed 288.3% from EUR 39.1 million to EUR 151.7 million. 

The rise was primarily attributable to the sale of the co-investment SÜDEWO, for which performance-based 
remuneration of EUR 103.5 million was received. In addition, an amount of EUR 3.6 million was attributable to 
services provided for SÜDEWO in the form of a shareholder contribution in the first half of 2015, which was not 
applicable from the second half of the year due to the sale, and an amount of EUR 13.4 million was attributable 
to earnings on the capital employed for this investment. 

As in the previous year, in 2015 the co-investment GBW generated EUR 9.5 million from services provided as a 
shareholder contribution and an amount of EUR 17.8 million in performance-related shareholder compensation 
as well as a distribution on invested equity of EUR 3.2 million. 

The Seneca supermarket portfolio contributed a dividend on invested equity of EUR 0.5 million (2014: EUR 0.4 
million). The co-investment WohnModul I generated income of EUR 4.2 million compared to EUR 3.2 million in 
the previous year, which is reported as earnings from companies accounted for using the equity method. 

2015 
EUR ’000

2014
EUR ’000

Change 

SÜDEWO 120,508 14,545 728.5%

Services provided as a shareholder contribution 3,625 7,250 –50.0%

Performance-related shareholder compensation 103,466 5,630 1737.8%

Earnings on capital employed 13,417 1,665 705.8%

GBW 30,555 24,156 26.5%

Services provided as a shareholder contribution 9,490 9,490 0.0%

Performance-related shareholder compensation 17,842 11,443 55.9%

Earnings on capital employed 3,223 3,223 0.0%

SENECA 510 358 42.5%

UK 108 0 –

WohnModul I 4,232 3,182 33.0%

TOTAL 155,913 42,241 269.1%
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Consolidated annual pRoFit

In line with the positive development in earnings performance, PATRIZIA’s consolidated annual profit rose 
284.0% from EUR 35.0 million to EUR 134.5 million.

CalCulation oF Consolidated annual pRoFit

2015 
euR ’000

2014
euR ’000

Change 

eBitda 175,077 55,886 213.3%

Amortisation on fund management contracts,  
software and fixed assets –7,059 –6,940 1.7%

earnings before finance income and taxes (eBit) 168,018 48,946 243.3%

Financial income 6,666 4,413 51.1%

Financial expenses –23,171 –11,912 94.5%

Gains/losses from currency translation –618 551 –212.2%

profit before income tax (eBt) 150,895 41,998 259.3%

Income taxes –16,433 –6,978 135.5%

Consolidated annual pRoFit 134,462 35,020 284.0%

The relevant items in the calculation are shown below.

amortisation of fund management contracts, software and equipment
Amortisation on fund management contracts, software and fixed assets remained almost unchanged at 
EUR 7.1 million (2014: EUR 6.9 million, +1.7%). The largest items here are amortisation on fund management 
contracts (EUR 2.0 million compared to EUR 2.5 million in the previous year; –20.8%) and also software in an 
amount of EUR 3.3 million (2014: EUR 2.6 million; +27.6%) as well as equipment in an amount of EUR 1.2 million 
(2014: EUR 1.2 million). The fixed assets schedule and its changes are described in detail in  item 4 of the Notes.

Financial result
As a result of the increased financing volume, the negative financial result increased 120.1% from EUR –7.5 mil
lion in the previous year to EUR –16.5 million. Financial income rose to EUR 6.7 million, of which EUR 5.2 million 
came from income from interest rate hedging of the Harald portfolio. This contrasted with financial expenses 
such as interest and interest hedging costs of EUR 23.2 million, of which EUR 16.0 million was attributable to the 
Harald portfolio. Further information is available under  item 6.10 of the Notes to the Consolidated Financial 
Statements.

gains/losses from currency translation
As at 31 December 2015, losses from currency translation amounted to EUR –0.6 million (2014: gains of EUR 0.6 
million) and comprised realised and unrealised changes from currency exchange and also the currency swaps 
acquired in connection with the acquisition of the Harald portfolio, which expired during the 2015 fiscal year. 
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2.3.3 NET ASSET AND FINANCIAL SITUATION OF THE GROUP

PATRIZIA NET ASSET AND FINANCIAL KEY FIGURES

31.12.2015
EUR ’000

31.12.2014
EUR ’000

Change 

Total assets 1,631,831 741,176 120.2%

Equity (including non-controlling partners) 539,791 410,048 31.6%

Equity ratio 33,1% 55,3% –22.2 PP

Bank loans 821,828 121,950 573.9%

– Cash and cash equivalents 179,141 145,361 23.2%

+ Bonded loans 67,000 77,000 –13.0%

= Net financial debt 709,687 53,589 1.224.3%

Real estate assets1 1,078,744 277,201 289.2%

1 Real estate assets comprise investment property measured at fair value and real estate held in inventories measured at amortised cost.

PP = percentage points

Total assets
The Group’s total assets rose to EUR 1.6 billion compared with EUR 0.7 billion in 2014. The increase was largely 
due to the inclusion of principal investments in an amount of EUR 1.0 billion on the reporting date, which more 
than offset the sale of other real estate in the portfolio.

Investment property and inventories
On the reporting date, PATRIZIA’s real estate assets as recognised in the consolidated financial statements  
totalled EUR 1.1 billion (2014: EUR 0.3 billion; +289.2%): 

31.12.2015 
EUR ’000

31.12.2014
EUR ’000

Change 

Investment property 20,802 78,507 –73.5%

Inventories 1,057,942 198,694 432.4%

Principal investments 1,078,744 277,201 289.2%

Of this, an amount of EUR 20.8 million is accounted for by investment property which is earmarked for sale 
and which generates rental income until then. An amount of EUR 1.1 billion is accounted for by inventories. This 
item includes assets held for sale in the ordinary course of business. The large majority with a value of almost 
EUR 1.0 billion is attributable to the principal investment Harald. 

An overview of all participations, assets under management and also of PATRIZIA’s invested capital is shown in 
the following table.
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patRiZia Capital alloCation as at 31 deCeMBeR 2015

assets under 
management

in euR million

patRiZia invest-
ment capital

in euR million

participation 
in % 

third parties 8,782 – –

Co-investments 6,719 168.3

Residential 5,087 128.6

GBW GmbH 3,314 54.4 5.1

WohnModul I SICAV-FIS 1,730 70.4 10.1

Other 43 3.8 10.0

Commercial germany 464 17.9

PATRoffice 220 6.9 6.3

Seneca 58 6.1 30.0

sono west 186 4.9 5.1

Commercial international 1,168 21.8

Aviemore Topco (UK) 597 12.9 10.0

Citruz Holdings LP (UK) 127 3.2 10.0

Plymouth Sound Holdings LP (UK) 69 2.0 10.0

Winnersh Holdings LP (UK) 376 3.7 5.0

principal investments 1,081 419.4

Harald 834 263.8 94.9

Other 247 155.6 100

operating companies1 – 45.6 100

tied investment capital 16,582 633.3 –

Bank balances and cash – 171.1 –

total investment capital 16,582 804.4 –

of which external capital  
(bonded loans and bridge financing) – 264.6 –

of which PATRIZIA equity  – 539.8 –

1 Tied investment capital relating to the acquisition of companies (mainly the acquisition of PATRIZIA GewerbeInvest KVG) and the capital commitment from the operation 
of the services business (mainly investments in systems and current receivables).

Capital stRuCtuRe

Bonded loans
In 2013, two bonded loans in a total amount of EUR 77.0 million were issued. At the end of 2015, an amount of 
EUR 5.0 million was repaid on each of these loans, giving the two bonded loans a value of EUR 67.0 million on 
the balancesheet date. A further EUR 10.0 million was repaid in January 2016. For the first time, this item is split 
up and shown under longterm and shortterm bonded loans. 

Bank loans and financial liabilities
PATRIZIA does not require any debt for its operating business. For investments in the form of principal invest
ments or coinvestments, an appropriate dept share can be considered in order to increase the return on capital 
employed. Whereas, as in the case of Harald, it is possible to take over existing financing, the use of external cap
ital is in principle examined on an individual basis for each investment and structured accordingly. If debt is used, 
the respective debt is shown as a financial liability based on its maturity. 
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As at 31 December 2015, the Group had total financial liabilities of EUR 821.8 million (2014: EUR 122.0 million). 
Of this, an amount of EUR 772.1 million is attributable to the principal investments (mainly relating to financing 
the Harald portfolio). 

The development of bank loans and financial liabilities is shown in the following table:

2015 
EUR ’000

2014
EUR ’000

Change 

Long-term bonded loans 32,000 77,000 –58.4%

Short-term bonded loans 35,000 0 –

Short-term bank loans 821,828 121,950 573.9%

TOTAL DEBT 888,828 189,950 346.8%

   A detailed schedule of maturities for the loans by fiscal year is listed in the Notes to the Consolidated Financial 
Statements under item 5.4. 

LIQUIDITY

Financing of the PATRIZIA Group is centrally managed by PATRIZIA Immobilien AG. As at 31 December 2015, 
credit agreements existed with seven banks. According to the credit agreements and in line with our business 
model, we repay loans based on the sales status of the financed real estate, with the result that a large portion  
of sales proceeds is used for repayments. 

Liquidity management ensures that the PATRIZIA Group is solvent at all times. Most of the individual Group com-
panies are directly linked to the Group’s automatic cash pooling system. On a same-day basis, account surpluses 
are transferred to the parent company and account deficits are offset by it. Payment receipts from operating 
companies and the liquidity surpluses from sales represent the most important source of liquidity within the 
Group and ensure that financing requirements are met. An appropriate liquidity reserve is maintained in the form 
of cash to ensure the Group’s solvency. As of 31 December 2015, PATRIZIA had cash and cash equivalents 
of EUR 179.1 million. The item includes cash and cash equivalents of EUR 8.4 million (2014: EUR 5.3 million; 
+59.1%), which the investment management companies must maintain because of regulatory requirements. In 
addition, an amount of EUR 95.0 million (2014: EUR 34.0 million; +179.3%) is reserved for repayments.

Cash Flow Statement 
In the reporting year, there were cash inflows from current business activities of EUR 90.4 million (2014: EUR 
140.0 million, –35.4%). The decline was because the change in inventories also included additions from invest-
ments in new principal investments in the reporting year. No comparable investments were made in the previous 
year. Investment activities resulted in a cash outflow of EUR 181.2 million (2014: inflow of EUR 99.5 million), 
mainly driven by the acquisition of the principal investments Harald and Manchester and by reduced inflows  
from the sale of investment property. The increased transaction volume resulted in clear inflows from financing 
activities because, in contrast to previous years, a significantly greater volume of loans was taken out than was 
repaid. The change in cash thus amounted to EUR 33.3 million (2014: EUR 39.8 million) and increased cash and 
cash equivalents from EUR 145.5 million at the end of 2014 to EUR 179.1 million as of 31 December 2015. 

EUR million 
Cash and cash equiv-
alents on the balance 
sheet date

179.1
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suMMaRy oF tHe 2015 Consolidated CasH FloW stateMent

2015
euR ’000

2014
euR ’000

Change 

Cash inflow from operating activities 90,406 140,020 –35.4%

Cash outflow/inflow from investment activities –181,211 99,502 –

Cash inflow/outflow from financing activities 124,130 –199,697 –

Changes in cash 33,326 39,825 –16.3%

Cash and cash equivalents 1 Jan. 145,361 105,536 37.7%

Cash and cash equivalents 31 Dec. 179,141 145,361 23.2%

2.3.4  notes on tHe annual FinanCial stateMents pRepaRed undeR HgB  
FoR patRiZia iMMoBilien ag (Holding CoMpany)

The position of the parent company PATRIZIA Immobilien AG is essentially determined by the activities of the 
Group’s operating companies. 

As a financing and management holding company for these companies, PATRIZIA Immobilien AG generated  
revenues of EUR 20.9 million (2014: EUR 20.0 million; +4.7%), mainly as a result of management cost alloca
tions to the subsidiaries. The increase in revenues was due to the fact that this allocation was increased in the 
2015 fiscal year. Commission income for services provided by the subsidiaries is also invoiced through the par
ent company and results in corresponding administrative expenses. 

Staff costs increased by 12.2% to EUR 26.9 million (2014: EUR 24.0 million). This was mainly due to the signif
icantly higher valuation from longterm variable compensation and to annual salary adjustments. The cost of 
materials and other operating expenses increased 54.3% to EUR 26.8 million (2014: EUR 17.4 million). Other 
operating expenses increased due to higher rental expenses for office premises resulting from the European 
growth, higher IT costs and provisions for litigation. net interest income fell EUR 4.0 million to EUR –0.9 million  
(2014: EUR 3.1 million). The parent company’s profit/loss consists of the operating income of the Company  
itself and profits and losses of the subsidiaries with which profit and loss transfer agreements exist. At 
EUR 119.7 million, net income from profit transfers and loss absorption was up 191.5% on the previous 
year (2014: EUR 41.1 million). A key driver here was the favourable development in results at the subsidiaries.  
income from participations declined to EUR 3.2 million (2014: EUR 5.8 million, –44.3%). Due to the sale 
of SÜDEWO, return on capital employed is not applicable for PATRIZIA Immobilien AG. For commercial law 
purposes, the income from the sale of the participation in SÜDEWO is recognised in other operating income, 
and not in income from participations (as for IFRS). In addition, the switch within the framework of the GBW 
coinvestment to a quarterly prorata guarantee dividend has resulted in a further adjustment to this item. 
PATRIZIA Immobilien AG’s net profit under HGB for the 2015 fiscal year amounted to EUR 92.9 million 
(2014: EUR 21.2 million; +337.4%) and when combined with the profits brought forward of EUR 111.2 million 
(2014: EUR 89.9 million; +23.6%) represents the Company’s distributable unappropriated profit. This unappro
priated profit amounted to EUR 204.1 million, an increase of 83.6% over the previous year (EUR 111.2 million). 

It is assumed that PATRIZIA Immobilien AG’s positive performance will continue in the 2016 fiscal year. Please 
refer to the Group report on expected developments (  item 6).
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SUMMARY OF THE PATRIZIA IMMOBILIEN AG BALANCE SHEET

31.12.2015
EUR ’000

31.12.2014
EUR ’000

Non-current assets 475,007 302,825

Current assets 141,900 268,596

Prepaid expenses 346 572

TOTAL ASSETS 617,253 571,993

Equity 479,120 386,207

Provisions 30,423 15,085

Liabilities 107,711 170,701

TOTAL EQUITY AND LIABILITIES 617,254 571,993

SUMMARY OF THE PATRIZIA IMMOBILIEN AG INCOME STATEMENT

2015
EUR ’000

2014
EUR ’000

Change

Revenues 20,949 20,014 4.7%

Other capitalised services and other operating income 18,752 1,779 954.1%

Cost of materials (cost of purchased services) –63 –259 –75.7%

Staff costs –26,889 –23,964 12.2%

Depreciation, amortisation, write-downs  
and other operating expenses –31,572 –21,328 48.0%

Profit from participations, profit transfers  
and loss absorption 122,890 46,839 162.4%

Net interest income –910 3,127 –129.1%

Result from ordinary activities 103,157 26,210 293.6%

Taxes –10,244 –4,966 106.3%

Net profit 92,913 21,243 337.4%

Profit carried forward 111,169 89,926 23.6%

UNAPPROPRIATED PROFIT 204,082 111,169 83.6%
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3 ADDITIONAL INFORMATION

3.1 Information relating to takeovers

All of PATRIZIA’s arrangements comply with the standards for German publicly traded companies.

Composition of subscribed capital, capitalisation
On 25 June 2015, the Annual General Meeting approved the Management proposal to carry the entire profit to  
new account and to issue bonus shares in a ratio of 10:1 for the 2014 fiscal year. Since the corresponding 
capital increase was entered into the Commercial Register on 3 August 2015, the Company’s subscribed share 
capital has totalled EUR 76,323,533 and is divided into 76,323,533 registered no-par value shares. There are no 
other classes of shares. 

Restrictions relating to voting rights or the transfer of shares
Each share confers the right to one vote; there are no restrictions concerning either voting rights or the transfer 
of shares. The Managing Board is also not aware of corresponding shareholder agreements.

Direct or indirect interest amounting to more than 10% of the capital
As at 31 December 2015, Wolfgang Egger, CEO of PATRIZIA Immobilien AG, held a total stake of 51.62% in the 
Company via First Capital Partner GmbH, in which he directly and indirectly holds a 100% stake via WE Vermögens-
verwaltung GmbH & Co. KG.

Shares with special rights conferring powers of control
There are no shares with special rights conferring powers of control.

Control of voting rights where employees hold shares in the Company’s capital 
There are no controls in respect of voting rights. 

Appointment and dismissal of members of the Managing Board, changes to the Articles of Association
The appointment and dismissal of the Managing Board is governed by Article 84 of the AktG and is supplement-
ed by Article 6 of the Company’s Articles of Association. Changes to the Articles of Association take place in 
accord  ance with Article 179 ff. of the AktG in combination with Articles 16 and 21 of the Articles of Association 
of PATRIZIA Immobilien AG. These make use of the option, granted by law, of specifying a different capital  
majority. 

Powers of the Managing Board to issue and buy back shares 
By resolution of the Annual General Meeting of 25 June 2015, the Managing Board is entitled to acquire shares 
in the Company with a volume of up to 10% of the share capital until 24 June 2020. The entitlement may be ex-
ercised by the Company in full or for partial amounts, on one or more occasions and in pursuit of one or more 
purposes, but also by its subsidiaries or for its own account or for the account of the latter by third parties. Pur-
chases can be exercised at the discretion of the Managing Board via the stock exchange, by means of a public 
bid made to the shareholders, through the use of derivative instruments or through an individually negotiated 
repurchase. The acquired shares may subsequently be used for all legally permissible purposes; in particular they 
may be cancelled, sold in exchange for a contribution in kind or to shareholders or used to meet subscription or 
conversion rights. 



78 Annual Report 2015

The Managing Board was further authorised, by resolution of the Annual General Meeting on 20 June 2012, to 
increase the share capital on one or more occasions with the consent of the Supervisory Board by up to a total 
of EUR 14,335,750 in exchange for cash contributions and/or contributions in kind by issuing new, registered 
no-par value shares by 19 June 2017 (Authorised Capital 2012). In certain cases, the Managing Board is author-
ised, with the approval of the Supervisory Board, to exclude the legal subscription rights of the shareholders. The 
complete authorisation results from Article 4 (3) of the Articles of Association. In addition, the Managing Board 
is authorised on one or more occasions, with the approval of the Supervisory Board to grant until 19 June 2017, 
in accordance with the more detailed conditions of the bonds, convertible bonds, and/or bonds with warrant, 
issued to the bearer or registered and/or participatory rights with or without conversion privileges or option right 
or conversion obligation (referred to together in the following as the “bonds”) in the aggregate principal amount 
of up to EUR 375,000,000 with a term of up to 20 years and to grant the bearers or the creditors of bonds, con-
version privileges or option rights to new, registered no-par value shares of the Company with a pro-rata amount 
of the share capital of up to EUR 14,335,750. As a result of the 2013, 2014 and 2015 capital increases from 
company funds, the 2012 contingent capital was conditionally increased by law in accordance with Article 218 
sentence 1 AktG, in the same ratio as the share capital – i.e. by 10% in each case – by EUR 1,734,625.75, from 
EUR 17,346,257.50 to EUR 19,080,883.25 through the issue of 19,080,883.25 new, registered no-par value 
shares with a pro-rata share in the share capital of EUR 1.00 during the year under review. The details relating to 
the contingent capital increase result from Article 4 (4) of the Articles of Association.

Significant agreements by the Company contingent upon a change in control subsequent to a  
takeover bid
No agreements contingent upon a change in control subsequent to a takeover bid exist.

Compensation agreements by the Company with the members of the Managing Board or employees 
for the event of a takeover bid 
No compensation agreements exist with the members of the Managing Board or employees for the event of a 
takeover bid.

3.2 Compensation Report

The compensation report explains the principle features of the compensation system for the Managing Board  
and Supervisory Board of PATRIZIA Immobilien AG and discloses the amount of the payments made to the indi-
vidual members of the Managing Board and Supervisory Board for the 2015 fiscal year. The compensation report 
considers all statutory requirements and corresponds to the recommendations of the German Corporate Govern-
ance Code, with the restriction that the variable portion of remuneration does not set a maximum amount. 

Compensation of the Managing Board
The system of management compensation used was approved under a resolution of the Annual General Meeting 
on 23 June 2010. The amount and structure of the compensation paid to the Managing Board members are  
determined and regularly reviewed by the Supervisory Board. The compensation paid to Managing Board mem-
bers is based on their respective task area, the personal performance of the individual Managing Board member 
and of the Managing Board as a whole, as well as the economic and financial situation and performance of 
 PATRIZIA. The compensation paid to Managing Board members is customary for the sector, appropriate and 
performance-related. It consists of non-performance-related components and performance-related components 
with short and long-term incentive effects. There are no agreements in place in the case of a change of control.
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Non-performance-related compensation
The non-performance-related components comprise fixed basic compensation, which is paid as a monthly salary, 
pension contributions as well as non-cash and other benefits which primarily consist of values to be applied in 
accordance with tax guidelines for the use of a company car and insurance premiums. 

Performance-related compensation
As a general principle, performance-related, variable compensation components are calculated on the basis of 
quantitative targets set at the start of the fiscal year, which are divided into three categories: company targets, 
business line targets and individual targets. Consequently, the amount of variable compensation paid out depends 
on the degree to which the predetermined targets are achieved, missed or exceeded. 

The primary criterion for the achievement of company targets is the operating income, the Group’s most impor-
tant performance indicator. Every year, depending on the Company’s planning, a target figure that exactly speci-
fies the amount of consolidated profit to be achieved is defined. If the operating income is less than the hurdle of 
67% of the defined target figure, the Managing Board receives no variable compensation whatsoever, irrespective 
of the achievement of other targets – company, business line or individual targets. Additional criteria for calculat-
ing variable compensation include the return on equity in the past fiscal year and the performance of PATRIZIA’s 
shares over two years in relation to the DIMAX real estate reference index. The figures defined for each target 
correspond to a degree of achievement of 100%. If the actual value determined corresponds to more than 120% 
of the defined target value, 150% of the variable compensation is paid. This is also the upper limit that has been 
defined for the maximum amount of variable compensation that can be achieved at the time of granting. If 80%  
of the target is achieved, 50% of the variable compensation is granted.

Short and long-term variable compensation components
For each predefined target, a variable compensation amount is calculated depending on the degree to which the 
target has been achieved. The total of all the amounts is paid out in two components. Two-thirds of the amount 
is paid out as cash payment, which is designated as a short-term component. The remaining third of the variable 
compensation is granted as performance share units, i.e. it is not paid out directly in cash. This third is intended 
as a component with a long-term incentive plan. Performance share units are virtual shares which grant the 
legitimate beneficiary the right to receive a monetary amount after a fixed performance period has passed. For 
PATRIZIA, this performance period was set at three years for all Managing Board members at the start of the 
2015 fiscal year. The performance share units do not carry any voting or dividend rights. The variable compensa-
tion component with a long-term incentive effect is initially converted into performance share units at the ave-
rage Xetra rate of the PATRIZIA share 30 days prior to and following 31 December of the fiscal year in question. 
The cash price equivalent of the shares calculated from this is paid out at the average Xetra rate 30 days prior to 
and after December 31 of the third year following the fiscal year in question, i.e. after the end of the vesting peri-
od. The variable compensation component with a long-term incentive effect is thus dependent on the Company’s 
share price performance. A maximum amount for the fair value at the time of payment has not been set.

Shares of the individual components in the Managing Board’s overall compensation
Assuming that both PATRIZIA and the Managing Board members meet 100% of their targets for the respective 
fiscal year, the following approximate compensation structure applies for the fair value at the time of granting: 
around 41% of the total remuneration consists of non-performance-related compensation components. Short-
term variable compensation, which is payable immediately, accounts for a further 39%. The long-term compen-
sation component from performance share units comprises some 20% of the overall compensation.
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Total remuneration for the 2015 fiscal year 
The remuneration granted to the members of the Managing Board for the 2015 fiscal year totalled EUR 3.5 mil-
lion. Some of this remuneration was not accompanied by actual payments. A total of 29,955 performance share 
units are included for the Managing Board for 2015; the cash equivalent of this sum will be paid out in the 2019 
fiscal year (48,186 units for the 2014 fiscal year for payment in 2018). The total remuneration paid out to the 
Managing Board was EUR 4.0 million in the reporting year (2014: EUR 2.7 million). 

The following table corresponds to the sample tables recommended in the German Corporate Governance Code 
and differentiates according to payments which the members of the Managing Board have been granted for the 
fiscal year but which have not yet been paid out in full and payments which have actually been made.

The following payments were granted to the members of the Managing Board for the relevant fiscal year:

Payments  
granted  
EUR ’000

WOLFGANG EGGER, CEO ARWED FISCHER, CFO KARIM BOHN, CFO KLAUS SCHMITT, COO

Joined: 21.08.2002
Appointed until: 30.06.2016

Joined: 01.03.2008
Left: 13.11.2015

Joined: 01.11.2015 
Appointed until: 31.10.2018

Joined: 01.01.2006 
Appointed until: 31.12.2020

2014 2015 2015
(Min)

2015
(Max)

2014 2015 2015
(Min)

2015
(Max)

2014 2015 2015
(Min)

2015
(Max)

2014 2015 2015
(Min)

2015
(Max)

Fixed  
compensation 360 360 360 360 360 360 360 360 – 60 60 60 360 360 360 360

Fringe benefits 271 271 271 271 331 331 331 331 – 21 21 21 121 131 131 131

Total 387 387 387 387 393 393 393 393 – 62 62 62 372 373 373 373

One-year  
variable  
compensation 4122 5043 0 5404 3842 4483 3205 4804 – 476 476 476 3542 5043 0 5404

Multi-year  
variable  
compensation –

Performance 
share units 
tranche 
2016–2018 – 252³ – 2704 – 224³ 1605 2404 – 236 236 236 – 2523 – 2704

Performance 
share units 
tranche 
2014–2015 2062 – – 1922 – – – – – 1772 – –

Total 1,005 1,143 387 1,197 969 1,065 8735 1,113 – 1326 1326 1326 903 1,129 373 1,183

Pension expenses 12 12 12 12 12 12 12 12 – 1 1 1 24 24 24 24

Total  
compensation 1,017 1,155 399 1,209 981 1,077 8855 1,125 – 1336 1336 1336 927 1,153 397 1,207

1 The item primarily includes non-cash benefits arising from the provision of company cars and insurance premiums.
² Granted in the 2015 calendar year for 2014 year once all criteria required for determining the variable compensation were known.
3 Corresponds to the liability posted for 140% target achievement. (The exact amount will be defined in the outstanding settlement).
4 Corresponds to the maximum amount of variable compensation that can be achieved of 150%.
5 A minimum target achievement of 100% was agreed with Mr Fischer for 2015.
6 A target achievement of 100% and payment pro rata temporis was agreed with Mr Bohn for 2015.
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The following payments were made to the members of the Managing Board in the relevant fiscal year:

Compensation of the Supervisory Board
The compensation of the Supervisory Board is determined by resolution of the Annual General Meeting and in the  
Articles of Association. The Supervisory Board receives fixed compensation in line with the level customary in the mar-
ket; this is paid to members in four equal instalments at the end of each quarter. No variable compensation is paid. 

In view of the size of the Supervisory Board with just three members, no committees were formed. Consequently, 
the committee remuneration recommended by the German Corporate Governance Code is irrelevant. If a Super-
visory Board member has not been a member for the entire fiscal year, he/she only receives the fixed compensa-
tion pro rata temporis. The members of the Supervisory Board also receive reimbursement for all their expenses 
as well as reimbursement for any value-added tax payable on their compensation and expenses. 

Personnel changes occurred in the Supervisory Board of PATRIZIA Immobilien AG during the reporting period. 
The long-standing Supervisory Board member, Mr Manfred J. Gottschaller, died suddenly and unexpectedly on 
4 June 2015. PATRIZIA has lost a prudent and experienced member of the Supervisory Board in the person  
of Mr Gottschaller. Mr Gottschaller was succeeded on the Supervisory Board of PATRIZIA Immobilien AG by 
Mr Hoschek, who had been elected as substitute member by the 2014 Annual General Meeting. In June 2015, 
Mr Harald Boberg resigned his position as Supervisory Board member. He was succeeded by Mr Gerhard Steck, 
who was appointed as member of the body by the Local Court of Augsburg with effect from 1 July 2015. 

WOLFGANG EGGER, CEO ARWED FISCHER, CFO KARIM BOHN, CFO KLAUS SCHMITT, COO

Amount paid  
EUR ’000

Joined: 21.08.2002
Appointed until: 30.06.2016

Joined: 01.03.2008
Left: 13.11.2015

Joined: 01.11.2015 
Appointed until: 31.10.2018

Joined: 01.01.2006
Appointed until: 31.12.2020

2014 2015 2014 2015 2014 2015 2014 2015

Fixed compensation 360 360 360 360 – 60 360 360

Fringe benefits 271 271 331 331 – 21 121 131

Total 387 387 393 393 – 62 372 372

One-year  
variable compensation 437 412 411 384 – – 389 354

Multi-year  
variable compensation

Performance share 
units tranche 
2012–2014 – – – 567³ – – – 628³

Performance share 
units tranche 
2013–2014 – 388³ – – – – – –

Performance share 
units tranche 
2012–2013 2772 – – – – – – –

Total 1,101 1,187 804 1,344 – 62 761 1,354

Pension expenses 12 12 12 12 – 1 24 24

Total compensation 1,113 1,199 816 1,356 – 63 785 1,378

1 The item primarily includes non-cash benefits arising from the provision of company cars and insurance premiums.
² Amount paid out in 2014 after conversion of the performance share units tranche for 2012–2013 at an average price of EUR 7.784692.
3 Amount paid out in 2015 after conversion of the performance share units tranche for 2013–2014 and 2012–2014 at an average price of EUR 13.12425.
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The following payments were granted to the Supervisory Board in the 2015 fiscal year:

EUR ’000 Fixed compensation

2015 2014

Dr Theodor Seitz, Chairman 40,000 40,000

Alfred Hoschek (since 4 June 2015) 17,250 0

Gerhard Steck (since 1 July 2015) 15,000 0

Harald Boberg (until 25 June 2015) 15,000 30,000

Manfred J. Gottschaller (until 4 June 2015) 15,000 30,000

TOTAL 102,250 100,000

3.3  Declaration on corporate governance – Disclosures in accordance 
with Article 289a HGB (German Commercial Code)

The Managing Board of PATRIZIA Immobilien AG issued a declaration on 18 February 2016 concerning corpo-
rate governance in accordance with Article 289a of the Handelsgesetzbuch (HGB – German Commercial Code) 
and has made this available to the public on the Company’s website at  www.patrizia.ag/investor-relations/
corporate-governance/erklaerung-zur-unternehmensfuehrung. 

3.4 Transactions with related companies and individuals

The Managing Board submitted a dependent company report to the Supervisory Board, to which it adds the fol-
lowing final statement: “As the Managing Board of the Company, we hereby declare that to the best of our knowl-
edge at the time when the legal transactions listed in the report on relationships with affiliated companies were 
carried out, the Company received appropriate consideration for each legal transaction. There were no measures 
taken during the fiscal year that require reporting.”

   Detailed information on business relationships with related companies and individuals can be found in the  
Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements under item 9.3.

4 SUPPLEMENTARY REPORT

Sale of the Harald portfolio
The sale of the Harald portfolio to Deutsche Wohnen AG was notarised in November 2015 for a selling price of 
EUR 1.1 billion and is expected to be concluded in the first half of 2016. Due to the complex structure of the 
port folio under corporate law, the transaction was designed partly as an asset deal and partly as a share deal. 

Sale in Manchester
Through its British subsidiary PATRIZIA UK Ltd., PATRIZIA has agreed to construct an office building in 
 Manchester in conjunction with one of the UK’s largest pension funds. In a first step under this project, an  
undeveloped plot of land (plot 5) was sold, after the balance sheet date, by Southside Regeneration Ltd. to  
the real estate development fund GMPVF for a purchase price of GBP 8.5 million. GMPVF invests in the develop-
ment of the UK’s north-western regions and belongs to the Greater Manchester Pension Fund, the largest muni-
cipal pension fund in the UK. PATRIZIA holds a minority interest of 0.05% in this development project.

www.patrizia.ag/investor-relations/corporate-governance/
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5 DEVELOPMENT OF OPPORTUNITIES AND RISKS

5.1 Management of opportunities and risks

The group-wide risk management system ensures that internal and external opportunities and risks are syste-
matically captured, assessed, controlled, monitored and communicated. Our aim is to obtain information on risks 
and opportunities and their financial implications at an early stage and to manage them in such a way that the 
long-term value of the company is sustainably safe and can increase. The Managing Board of PATRIZIA Immo-
bilien AG bears overall responsibility. Monitoring and development of the risk management system lies with the 
risk management working group which consists of employees from the Controlling, Investor Relations and Legal 
departments as well as from operational areas.

Opportunity management is performed independently of risk management. The Transactions and Alternative 
Investments departments observe the market for attractive investment opportunities. The Product Development 
and Institutional Clients departments develop new pro-ducts and structures for our clients. Strategic growth 
opportunities are identified and pursued by PATRIZIA’s Strategy Committee. PATRIZIA’s asset management 
companies each maintain a risk management system focusing on the real estate special funds that they manage 
and in order to ensure compliance with legal and supervisory requirements. The risks and opportunities which 
PATRIZIA identifies and communicates at an early stage – defined as negative/positive deviations from plan  
figures – pass through the further management process. This is ensured through the regular jour fixe session  
of the Managing Board and of the Cooperation Committee, which consists of all Country Heads, Group Heads, 
Operational Group Heads and the COO. 

Group Controlling reports provide a regular and reliable information base for managing opportunities and risks. 
The value drivers for each area of responsibility are exposed in a monthly target-actual analysis in order to iden-
tify undesirable developments at an early stage and to allow measures to be taken. Identified opportunities and 
risks are integrated into the regular planning and forecasting processes. Risks are evaluated on the basis  
of the probability of their occurrence and the magnitude of potential damage and are summarised at Group level. 
We use this information to develop the required course of action and to limit their impact through operational 
measures and, where necessary, through financial precautions such as accruals. The analysis generally covers 
the period of our corporate planning but can also be extended beyond this in the event of significant strategic 
risks. 

The efficiency and effectiveness of the risk management system are assessed once a year in an internal risk audit. 
The results are set out in a risk report, which presents all risks, operational measures and responsibilities which 
were previously examined by the departments in charge. In addition to the Managing Board, the Managing Direc-
tors of the business functions are informed of the risk inventory’s results. Further on, the early risk detection 
system is examined by the auditors in accordance with Article 317 (4) of the German Commercial Code (HGB). 

5.2  Internal control and risk management system with regard to the 
reporting process – disclosures in accordance with Article 289 (5) 
and Article 315 (2) No. 5 of the German Commercial Code (HGB)

The risks relating to accounting and financial reporting are that our annual financial statements and quarterly 
reports could contain incorrect presentations. In order to avoid sources of error, PATRIZIA Immobilien AG has 
established an internal control system (ICS) for its accounting process. It ensures sufficient security for the 
reliability of its financial reporting and preparation of its regular reports as well as of the annual and consolidated 
financial statements and quarterly reports. Nevertheless, the ICS cannot provide absolute certainty. The members 
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of PATRIZIA Immobilien AG’s Managing Board sign the declaration of legal representatives each quarter. In doing 
so, they confirm that accounting standards have been complied with and that the figures represent the actual as-
sets and liabilities, financial position and earnings situation. The starting point for the ICS is the projection based 
on the targets set by the Managing Board and the planning of the operating businesses. This planning provides 
budgetary values for the coming fiscal year and budget figures for the following fiscal year for each company and 
each cost centre. Differences between the actual and target figures are determined and analysed on a monthly 
basis. A revised forecast for the current fiscal year is prepared mid-year, based on actual values already booked 
and open budget values. 

The ICS includes all measures and processes to ensure that all business transactions are entered quickly into the 
bookkeeping and financial statements. It examines the effect of amendments to laws and accounting standards 
and the preparation of financial statements. Systematic implementation of the four eyes principle ensures com-
pliance with legal regulations in accounting processes. The separation of functions and authorisation regulations, 
which are reinforced by standardised control and coordination processes, form the basis of the ICS. All authori-
sations are documented and subject to system-based archiving.

The accounting for all operational and property holding companies in Germany is located centrally within 
 PATRIZIA Immobilien AG. Accounting for companies located abroad is generally performed by the national  
company. The basis for accounting is provided by group-wide standards within a central IT environment, which  
is mainly SAP-based. The Group Accounting department performs the consolidation required to produce the  
consolidated financial statements centrally. Employees involved in the preparation of the annual financial state-
ments are appropriately trained, and the responsibilities and controls for preparing the annual financial state-
ments are clearly defined.

The effectiveness of our accounting-related ICS is evaluated as part of the final reporting procedures and exam-
ined by our auditor as part of its auditing task. 

5.3 Important opportunity and risk categories 

5.3.1 MARKET RISKS

Opportunities and risks arising from macroeconomic developments: favourable financing terms and 
low mortgage interest rates are increasing the attractiveness of real estate and demand from both private and 
institutional investors throughout Europe. PATRIZIA can meet this demand with its comprehensive product mix 
by actively purchasing and selling assets and realising development projects. Demand for property is expected 
to continue in the 2016 fiscal year as a result of the ECB’s ongoing expansionary monetary policy and the lack of 
investment alternatives. At the macroeconomic level, the volatility of the euro and possible deflationary scenarios 
might be factors which curb positive economic development in the euro area but could promote demand for real 
estate as a safe haven. Currently, we do not see any substantial weakening risk in PATRIZIA’s development in 
the medium term.

Residential real estate market: increasing construction activity in Europe demonstrates that the market is 
responding to the existing shortage in urban areas. Demographic change, urbanisation and a changing regulatory 
framework are effecting the development of real estate and hence price development across Europe, too. For 
this reason, it is very important to perform a detailed analysis of the long-term demand structure and to manage 
portfolios actively. In Germany, rent controls (‘Mietpreisbremse’) are showing slight initial effects on how rents 
are developing in certain urban areas, as rent increases have been restricted in tight markets. Current discus-
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sions about how local rent indices are calculated and modernisation cost allocation are causing a degree of  
uncertainty and must be monitored carefully.

Commercial real estate market: strong demand for office and retail space can also be expected in 2016.  
This demand implies stable growth in rents and positive growth in value. As a consequence, growth is also anti-
cipated in investment activities in commercial real estate in Europe. Continuing strong economic growth in the 
United Kingdom will continue to drive activities in commercial real estate. With the strong increase, demand, 
especially from the Asian region, is meeting a relatively short supply. Macroeconomic development in the Nordic 
countries has led to meaningful rent increases in the commercial sector and made these assets more attractive. 

Competitive situation: high demand for indirect real estate investment opportunities remains. PATRIZIA 
has fully implemented the Alternative Investment Fund Managers Directive (AIFMD). The new structure allows 
cross-border synergies to be leveraged across all product classes. PATRIZIA will extend its range of products 
and services via its established country platforms in Germany, Scandinavia and Finland, the United Kingdom and 
Ireland, France, Spain as well as Luxembourg and the Netherlands, and increasingly acquire international invest-
ors. As a consequence, we have increased the number of staff within the Institutional Clients area. Strong market 
competition is still anticipated for Management Services. Clients attach increasing importance to outstanding 
management quality at competitive prices. PATRIZIA considers itself well-positioned in this respect.

Long-term investment contracts: steady income flows result from a large number of long-term investment 
contracts, concluded for a fixed term. For this reason, the loss of a single mandate – even through selling a port-
folio – is not associated with any substantial risk, rather more it is part of our business model. 

5.3.2 BUSINESS RISKS

Purchases and sales of real estate: again there was a considerable increase in demand for real estate in 2015.  
In an environment of low interest rates, an increasing number of international investors are focusing on the Euro-
pean real estate market. The transaction volume improved again compared with the previous years. Moreover, 
it is becoming increasingly challenging to acquire suitable properties with the planned risk-return-matrix for our 
clients. In this market situation, PATRIZIA is able, firstly, to use its experience, expertise and market access to 
acquire attractive properties for its clients and, secondly, to present attractive exit opportunities to existing in-
vestors. Further investment opportunities for PATRIZIA result from the international and strategic development 
with its own foreign subsidiaries. PATRIZIA is therefore seen throughout Europe as a reliable and professional 
partner in the fast realisation of large individual investments and portfolios. 

Principal investments: these are investments that PATRIZIA undertakes for its own account. The main risk 
which might result from this it that a property may not be sold at the desired price. So far, it has always been 
possible to sell all principal investments made, completely or in part, faster than expected and very profitably, 
which demonstrates the significant opportunities that PATRIZIA generates with these investments.
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Employees: the skills and motivation of PATRIZIA’s employees are essential for success. Through our employ-
ees, we gain the trust of our investors, tenants, business partners and shareholders and are able to establish 
long-term business relationships. We endeavour to retain qualified staff in the long-term. We apply personnel  
development measures, representation rules and early succession planning as part of our efforts to reduce the 
risk of staff leaving and loss of knowledge and in order to occupy management positions internally. Furthermore, 
the recruitment of new employees, especially during our period of growth, is vital for PATRIZIA’s successful  
future development.

  For further information, please refer to the section on Employees under 1.5.

IT security: almost all our essential business processes are supported by IT systems. Any fault in the operation  
of the IT systems affects our business activities. A substantial loss of data could lead to serious financial losses 
and also adversely affect public perceptions of the Company. Virtually all systems have been operated redun-
dantly at two physically separate computer centres since 2015 in order to always ensure the availability of busi-
ness applications. In addition, the ERP (Enterprise Resource Planning) systems are operated in parallel on a mir-
rored basis. These two measures guarantee a significant reduction in downtimes in the event of an emergency. 
Data backups are performed on a regular basis in order to prevent the loss of company data and to ensure the 
reliability of IT operations. Our password policy also ensures that access passwords are changed regularly. 

Financing risks: borrowing is not essential for PATRIZIA’s business model. While managed real estate is regu-
larly financed using borrowing, this form of financing takes place at portfolio or property level and has a negli-
gible impact on indicators and PATRIZIA’s result. Moreover, the risk of external financing not being available to 
PATRIZIA Immobilien AG is currently extremely low. Debts to the order of EUR 10 million were repaid at the end 
of 2015 and at the end of January 2016 on each of the two bonds issued in 2013 for EUR 77 million. Along with 
significant liquidity, PATRIZIA is in a position to respond to the capital requirements of new investments at any 
time. Principal investments are always financed at property or portfolio level, too. As per 31 December 2015, 
EUR 821.8 million of short-term bank loans was accounted for by principal investments. The loans are repaid on 
a continuous basis as the sales of the underlying investments are take place. PATRIZIA also procures external 
capital as part of its service under co-investments and funds.

Credit terms: financial covenant rulings have not existed within the Group since January 2016. Loan clauses 
exist in the bank liabilities assumed from the principal investments “Harald” and “First Street” in Manchester. 
Credit clauses will cease to exist when the principal investments are sold. These risks are therefore negligible. 
Indicators are agreed in loan agreements for property financing, and compliance with them is constantly moni-
tored. There are no direct effects for PATRIZIA resulting from this. 

Interest risks: no interest rate risks exist for PATRIZIA, as both bonds carry a fixed interest rate. The financing 
assumed in the acquisition of the “Harald” portfolio is covered by an interest hedge. 

Liquidity risk: there is currently no indication of a possible liquidity shortage. As per 31 December 2015, cash 
and cash equivalents amounting to EUR 179.1 million were available to PATRIZIA in order to cover its operat-
ing liquidity and financing requirements. Moreover, we expect further cash surpluses from operating business 
over the course of the year which will be used for investment planning in matching periods. The equity released 
through sales is also increasing existing liquidity. PATRIZIA optimises and manages liquidity by means of cash 
pooling. Early-warning indicators and comprehensive continuous liquidity planning also serve to prevent risks  
and to ensure that an unexpected liquidity requirement can be serviced. 
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Exchange risk: most subsidiaries and real estate companies are located in the European Monetary Union coun-
tries, where there is no currency risk. The exceptions are the international offices in Denmark, Sweden and the 
United Kingdom, which exercise asset management mandates, perform purchases and sales on behalf of funds 
and invest through co-investments. PATRIZIA had approximately EUR 66.1 million invested in foreign currency 
at the reporting date. Since the participating interests in these companies and the granting of shareholder loans 
are effected in the respective national currency, the subsidiaries and real estate holding companies are subject 
to the risk of changing exchange rates. This position may become more relevant with continuing expansion in 
Europe outside the euro area. In addition, liquidity positions in Swedish crowns and Norwegian crowns were 
assumed as part of the acquisition of the “Harald” portfolio and their equivalent in euros may fluctuate. Never-
theless, the Group’s entire exchange risk is monitored and measured on a regular basis in order to immediately 
identify action which may need to be taken and to initiate countermeasures.

Legal risks: PATRIZIA is present in different legal systems. As a result of their business operations, individual 
companies can be involved in various litigation and arbitration proceedings. Out-of-court claims are asserted 
against them occasionally. We aim to minimise any legal risks by monitoring our contractual obligations and in-
volving internal and external legal experts in contractual matters. We have booked accruals for potential losses 
from pending cases. In some of these, the claims asserted against us are significantly higher than the amount of 
the corresponding accruals. Based on an extensive legal assessment, we consider these claims to be unfounded. 
No contractual risks exist with regard to co-investments, e.g. in respect of the social clauses, since these only 
affect non-consolidated subsidiaries. The investment contracts do not reveal any substantive contractual risks 
either.

5.3.3 PARTNER RISKS 

Third parties: with regard to special real estate funds, opportunities and risks result from income from fees 
that depend on managed real estate assets, on purchases and sales and on the returns achieved. This income 
can be negatively affected by a decline in the value of real estate, rent losses and a reduced transaction volume. 
However, PATRIZIA operates a large number of different funds and is able to access a varied supply of suitable 
properties in Germany and other countries. Since the properties held in special funds must be backed by at least 
50% equity, borrowing in this constellation can be obtained quickly and at favourable terms. Generally, we do not 
expect a lower level of investment activity in the future. We consider the risk of a decrease in planned dividend 
payments to investors to be very slight. On the contrary, we see an opportunity for acquiring new clients and 
expanding our fund business based on our track record and PATRIZIA’s reputation. Additional opportunities arise 
by introducing closed-end real estate funds to private investors. From 2016 onwards, we will use these public 
investment funds to make properties with a market value of between EUR 50–150 million accessible that will 
appeal to private investors. As an asset and property manager, we are also responsible for managing and optimis-
ing third-party properties. Poor service could lead to dissatisfaction of the respective client or to financial claims 
which might extend to the loss of contracts and an impact on the Group’s earnings situation. We assume a very 
low probability of this happening in 2016 with, at most, negligible financial consequences.
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Co-investments: PATRIZIA participates in projects with up to a 10% capital stake of its own funds through 
co-investments. Acquiring clients and the necessary equity with them does not constitute any real limiting factor. 
We also do not consider securing finance to be a risk. As already explained under “Purchases and sales of real 
estate”, the challenge tends to lie in acquiring suitable real estate which meets the criteria defined by PATRIZIA 
and investors. 

Raising equity capital: we do not see any risk of a shortage of business partners/investors or problems in 
acquiring new business partners/investors owing to the high level of liquidity in the market combined with the 
pressure to invest and the lack of investment alternatives. Extending co-investment and fund business activity 
increases PATRIZIA’s dependency on institutional clients, which could put pressure on our margins. This risk is 
offset by our sales strategy, which also involves addressing additional, in particular foreign, investors. About 200 
institutional investors – from savings banks and insurance companies to pension funds and sovereign wealth 
funds – now invest via PATRIZIA. 48% of investors in our funds and co-investments have invested in several 
PATRIZIA products. 

5.4 Overall assessment of opportunities and risks

Risk management at PATRIZIA is a process which records risk positions, identifies changes in risk and defines 
appropriate actions. In 2015, like in previous years, PATRIZIA examined the evaluation categories for the poten-
tial magnitude of damages for all known risks and increased or reduced them as necessary. The risk manage-
ment system illustrated here enables PATRIZIA to counteract risks at an early stage and to exploit the opportuni-
ties that present themselves. Considering all individual risks and a possible cumulative effect, PATRIZIA’s overall 
risk is limited at present. No significant risks for future development or the continued existence of the Company 
and the Group have been identified based on our current knowledge and medium-term planning. 

6 REPORT ON EXPECTED DEVELOPMENTS

6.1 Future economic framework

Macroeconomic development: as a result of the continued recovery and the labour market reforms in some 
countries of Europe, conditions on the work markets are expected to improve further in 2016. Despite the ECB’s 
decision to extend its bond purchase programme until the start of 2017, inflation in the euro area is expected to 
remain at a low level over the coming months. The FED’s decision, at the end of December 2015, to gradually in-
crease base rates represents a historic change in rates. It remains to be seen whether the FED will, as expected, 
follow this first step with further interest rate rises during the current year. The continuing action by the central 
banks and the development of potential and actual flashpoints such as the referendum on the UK remaining in 
the EU, China’s economic development, price trends for key raw materials such as oil or the refugee situation 
in Europe are also shaping sentiment on the financial markets. Considerable uncertainty thus remains and this 
should prompt further growth in demand for less risky assets such as real estate among institutional and private 
investors.  Source: PATRIZIA Research
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Development on the European real estate market: the favourable development on residential and commer
cial real estate markets in European city regions should continue, with investors expected to increasingly look to  
B locations due to the shortage in supply. So far, the increasing regulation in some markets (e.g. freezing on  
rent prices for residential real estate in Germany, special tax on rent for retail properties in Poland of 250 sqm  
and above) has only exercised minimal impact. Nevertheless, future political activities will require close obser
vation. Overall, the current year is expected to result in positive growth in value within Europe, driven by low 
financing costs, a lack of alternative investments and a further increase in interest among national and inter
national investors.  Source: PATRIZIA Research

6.2  Expected development of the earnings situation and assumptions 
concerning achievement of targets in 2016

6.2.1 THE GROUP IN GENERAL

In view of the generally positive business outlook and foreseeable transfers of portfolios and properties based  
on contracts already concluded, 2016 is again expected to result in a further improvement in key performance 
indicators. Specifically, development as follows is expected:

Initial forecast 
2015

Final forecast 
2015

Actual figures
2015

Forecast 
2016

Assets under management Growth of 
EUR 2 billion

Growth of 
EUR 2 billion

Growth of 
EUR 2 billion

Further growth 
of around  

EUR 2.0 billion

Operating income
Increase of 

around 10% to 
EUR 55 million

EUR 145 –160 
million

EUR 155.3 million at least  
EUR 250 million1

1  Please refer to the following explanation of the forecast for details concerning the definition of the operating income.

PATRIZIA expects further future sustainable growth in earnings, as expressed by the operating income. In parti c
ular, this is to be achieved through a further increase in assets under management and the stabilisation of perfor
mancebased payments.

Operating income
Specifically, a marked increase in operating income to at least EUR 250 million is forecast, compared with the 
figure of EUR 155.3 million for the period under review. The main drivers will be the sale of the Harald portfolio, 
which has already been notarised and parts of which have already been concluded since the reporting date, and 
also the further growth of the service business and the associated incomes. It should be noted that the forecast 
operating income for the sale of the Harald portfolio already incorporates the deduction of transactionrelated  
taxes and noncontrolling interests.

Assets under management 
The asset management companies for institutional investors have committed and not yet invested capital of 
EUR 1.6 billion. The current average equity coverage of 62% is well above the statutory required minimum ratio 
of 50% and permits further growth of the funds if suitable investment opportunities can be identified. In addition, 
steps will be taken in 2016 to attract more investors from outside Europe, so that at the same time as expanding 
the product portfolio in the field of logistics real estate, for example, the range of potential transactions will also 
be broadened, leading to operational growth. Together with some sales, therefore, a net growth in assets under 
management of EUR 2.0 billion is again planned for 2016 following a rise of the same magnitude in 2015.
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In addition, the other framework parameters which support corporate management such as raised equity, trans-
action volume and management income are also expected to continue their positive growth path during the 
current year.

In principle, growth across Europe will focus on the commercial real estate market including logistics. In the res
idential sector, the Netherlands and Scandinavia, and notably Denmark, offer the most promising opportunities. 
The other markets will obviously be closely monitored for any emerging investment opportunities and a detailed 
assessment will be carried out where an investment opportunity arises. 

6.2.2 tHiRd paRty Business

After over EUR 1.5 billion in fresh equity was raised from institutional investors in Germany and other countries  
for existing and new specialised PATRIZIA GewerbeInvest KVG and PATRIZIA WohnInvest KVG funds in 2015, 
further growing interest is expected among institutional investors, together with a significant increase in commit
ted equity. 

Moreover, PATRIZIA GrundInvest KVG, the investment vehicle for retail investors, expects to receive its first nota
ble equity payments in 2016. 

6.2.3 Co-investMents

The fees from the coinvestments are expected to stabilise over the coming year. In addition to management ser
vices fees, a further dividend on invested prorata equity is expected. As in the previous year, the coinvestments 
gBW, WohnModul i and seneca are expected to deliver notable contributions to results. The somewhat oppor
tunistic co-investments in the uK were made with a clear intent to sell if suitable market opportunities arise; 
some such opportunities are expected in 2016.

6.2.4 pRinCipal investMents

Harald: The sale of the Harald portfolio was notarised in November 2015 and is expected to be completed in the 
first half of 2016. The corresponding contribution to the result has been taken into account in the forecasts.

Manchester First street: Plans for 2016 include selling the food and restaurant businesses once they have been 
fully let, and also the office building known as “First Street No. 1” with a total area of 17,000 sqm.

6.3 Expected development of the net assetS and financial situation

Bank liabilities have increased significantly as a result of the acquisition of the Harald portfolio. This is a short
term effect. Following the conclusion of the Harald sale in 2016, PATRIZIA will then only have a low volume of 
liabilities to banks. First repayments on the bonded loans were made in 2015, with further repayments planned 
during the current year. If attractive investment opportunities arise which can be structured as principal invest
ments, the possibility of funding via a debt mix will also be examined. 
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6.4 Dividend policy

For the past 2015 fiscal year, the Managing Board and the Supervisory Board of PATRIZIA Immobilien AG pro-
pose that the retained earnings of EUR 204.1 million should be fully carried forward to the new account. As in 
previous years, a capital increase from company funds will be used to issue new shares to shareholders with a  
ratio of 10:1. On the one hand, the increased number of shares will increase the liquidity of the company’s 
shares, and on the other hand PATRIZIA can, as in the past, use the liquid funds to exploit investment opportu-
nities which arise. The shareholders will not be required to make any contribution. The retained liquid funds are 
to be used for investment opportunities in the field of principal investments and also for expanding European 
activities, thereby contributing to PATRIZIA’s sustainable, long-term growth. 

If the Annual General Meeting of PATRIZIA Immobilien AG to be held on 16 June 2016 agrees to the measure, 
the capital increase will be effected by issuing 7,632,354 new registered no-par value shares. This measure will 
not affect the amount of total equity since it simply involves a transfer from retained earnings to subscribed cap-
ital. The share capital will increase from a current total of EUR 76,323,533 to EUR 83,955,887, divided into the 
same number of no-par value shares. The new shares will carry dividend rights from the beginning of the 2016 
fiscal year. 

6.5 General statement of the Company’s management on prospects for 2016

PATRIZIA will continue its highly successful growth in 2016. The company will resolutely drive its presence 
across Europe and thus its European growth path. This will be reflected in assets under management, which are 
again forecast to rise by EUR 2.0 billion in 2016, thereby increasing income from the service business. Moreo-
ver, the sale of the Harald portfolio is expected to make a significant contribution to results in the current year, 
allowing us to forecast a rise in PATRIZIA Immobilien AG’s operating income to at least EUR 250 million after 
non-controlling interests and transaction-related taxes for the Harald transaction.

The outlook for 2016 and statements about subsequent years include all the events that were known at the  
time the consolidated financial statements were prepared and that could influence the business performance  
of PATRIZIA.

Augsburg, 7 March 2016

Wolfgang Egger Karim Bohn Klaus Schmitt
CEO CFO COO

This report contains specific forward-looking statements which relate in particular to the business development of PATRIZIA and the general economic and regulatory  
environment and other factors to which PATRIZIA is exposed. These forward-looking statements are based on current estimates and assumptions by the Company made  
in good faith, and are subject to various risks and uncertainties that could render a forward-looking estimate or statement inaccurate or cause actual results to differ  
from the results currently expected. 
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